




























































































































































































































































































































































































































Rev. and Mrs. Wm. Peters 
Rev. Peters is pastor of E.M.B. Church 

Bishop Jacob J. Froese 

All the early Mennonite church denominations were 
reluctant to organize congregations or to erect churches 
in town. Later, Mennonites invaded railroad towns 
founded by non-Mennonites. Except for the Old Colony 
Mennonite Church denomination, this aversion to move 
into railway towns has practically vanished. However, 
even today there is no Old Colony Mennonite Church 
building in Winkler, although some of its members now 
reside in town. 

Bishop Jacob J. Froese who was the leader for many 
years of the Old Colony Mennonite Church 
congregations in this area, operated a large farm at 
Reinfeld, two miles east of Winkler. Of course, he 
received no stipend from the church treasury for his 
services. Rev. Froese was born November 13, 1885, in 
the village of Reinland. On confession of faith in Jesus 
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Christ as Savior, he was baptized June 12, 1905, by 
Bishop Peter Wiebe in the village of Chortitz and reo 
ceived into the fellowship of the Old Colony Mennonite 
Church. Rev. Froese was ordained for the ministry on 
June 28, 1936, and as bishop November 14, 1937, by 
Bishop Johan Loeppky of Osler, Saskatchewan. He 
delivered his last sermon on January 6,1968, and during 
his years of service in the ministry, he preached a total of 
1727 sermons and conducted the last rites at 200 funerals. 
Besides officiating at 94 marriages, Rev. Froese baptized 
655 baptismal candidates and accepted them into the 
membership of the Old Colony Mennonite Church. In 
1935, he also served as a member of the first Board of 
Directors of the Bethel Hospital at Winkler. 

On July 15, 1906, Rev. Froese was united in the holy 
bonds of matrimony with the former Miss Margaretha 
Enns. The marriage was blessed with fifteen children as 
well as one foster daughter. He was predeceased by ten of 
their children. 

Although it is not likely that Rev. Froese ever cast a 
ballot in an election, two of his sons are serving in a 
political capacity. Besides operating a 1000-acre farm, 
George Froese has been a member of the Garden Valley 
School Division Trustee Board since 1971, and has 
served as councillor and reeve of Stanley Municipality 
since 1966. Jake Froese owns a 900-acre farm and has 
been active as president of the Winkler Credit Union 
from 1950-70, as school trustee of the Reinfeld District 
from 1944-72, as president of the Mennonite School 
Trustee Association for five years, and since 1959 he has 
been re-elected to the Manitoba Legislature in four 
provincial elections as the Social Credit candidate for 
Rhineland. 

Winkler Revival Center 
(The Mission Hall) 

In 1954 a Mission congregation was organized in 
Winkler. Rev. Abram M. Friesen moved a building onto 
the lot at the north-west corner of Second Street and 
Stanley Avenue where he became the leader for a number 
of years until he moved with his family to Winnipeg. He 
had been ordained for the ministry in the Rudnerweider 
Church in 1944. For some time the services were 
conducted on Sunday evening. There were also regular 
Sunday morning worship services and Sunday School 
classes. For some years, the late Mr. Ed Heppner was an 
ardent supporter of the Mission Hall services. As Mr. 
Heppner was a graduate of the Winkler Bible Institute, 
he frequently preached tht: sermon at the Mission. When 
the Winkler E.M.B. Church was organized in 1961, the 
attendance at the Mission Hall declined and finally the 
building was sold and moved into the country. However, 
the United Church building which had been standing 
vacant on Highway 3 near Carman, was donated to the 
group and moved onto a lot on the north side of Victoria 
Avenue on the east side of town. 

In 1971" some of the members who had attended the 
services in the Mission reorganized under the leadership 
of Bishop Terry Miller and formed a non­
denominational church now known as the Winkler 
Revival Center. 



Interdenominational Services 

During the last two decades many of the Winkler 
and surrounding area churches have united in inter­
denominational evangelistic campaigns which have been 
conducted in the churches, school auditoriums, arenas, 
and tents. The purpose of these has been to give people an 
opportunity to make a spiritual beginning or to get right 
with God. Consequently, there has been through the 
years much positive evangelical preaching from the 
pulpits of the local churches. Possibly, a forerunner of the 
interdenominational evangelistic meetings of the Winkler 
churches started in 1934 when Rev. Isaac P. Friesen, 
Rosthern, Saskatchewan, began a series of services in the 
Winkler Bergthaler Church. After revival fires broke out 
the meetings quickly assumed an inter-denominational 
navour and were transferred to the Winkler M.B. Church 
because at that time it had more seating accommodation. 
Of late these united services have been called "Southern 
Manitoba Crusade for Ch rist", and some of the 
evangelists who have conducted campaigns here were the 
following: Rev. Peter Wiebe, Indiana (1956) Rev. George 
R. Brunk, Virginia (1957); Janz Brothers, Germany 
(1960); Rev. J. J. Toews, Winnipeg (1961); and Rev. 
Vernon D. Duerksen, South Dakota (1968). The 
American Association for Jewish Evangelism has also 
conducted several series of services in town here in which 
the local congregations irrespective of denominations 
have participated. In 1970, Rev. Wes Aarum conducted 
evangelistic services in the Winkler M.B. Church which 
had been organized and supported by the Winkler 
Ministerial Association and consequently there was 
participation by most of the local churches. In 1971, Rev. 
Alf Rees c0!1ducted evangelistic services in the Winkler 
Bergthaler Church with participation by other local 
churches. In 1973 the local churches again united through 
the Winkler Ministerial for an evangelistic thrust in the 
community by joining in Key '73. 

On June 8, 9,10, 1925, a Bible Conference was held 
in the Winkler M. B. Church when speakers from the 
Bergthaler and Brethren churches participated. Ministers 
and speakers whose names appeared on the program 
were Rev. Johann Warkentin, Winkler; Rev. P. H. 
Neufeld, Altona; Rev. H. H. Ewert, Gretna; Rev. Henry 
Born, Winkler; Rev. A. H. Unruh, Winkler; Mr. Gustav 
Penner, Winkler; Rev. Jacob B. Penner, Kronsgart; Rev. 
Benjamin Ewert, Winnipeg; Rev. C. C. Bergmann, 
Morden; Rev. DaVid Schulz, Altona; Rev. Michael 
Klassen, Mr. Abram Peters, Arnaud; Rev. Benjamin 
.Ianz, Steinbach; Rev . .I. Siemens, Winkler; Rev. Jacob 
Hoeppner, Winkler; and Rev. Herman A. Neufeld, 
Winkler. 

As the Mennonite church congregations usually 
kept an "Armen Kasse" (Treasury to help the poor), they 
were reluctant to have their needy members apply for 
money from public funds. However, during the years of 
the depression of the 1930's the churches were unable to 
supply all the demands for assistance and as a result 
many sought relief from municipal councils under the 
Dominion-Provincial grant system. Today, the members 
of the Mennonite churches have no hesitation in accept­
ing Federal government Old Age pensions as well as 
Provincial Medical and Hospital Services. 
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Wedding Ceremonies 

In some of the local Mennonite churches there used 
to be Sunday morning weddings. After the regular 
Sunday morning worship service, the minister in charge 
would deliver a short wedding sermon which was then 
followed by the marriage ceremony. However, since it 
was traditional that men and women did not sit together 
in the same pews, it was also consistent with tradition 
that the bride and groom did not sit together until two 
chairs had been placed in front of the altar to be occupied 
by the bridal couple and the marriage ceremony began. 

Later, Sunday afternoon weddings became popular, 
but it was not until the 1930's that evening marriages 
were solemnized. Of course, it is only in recent years that 

the exchange of rings, the signing of the register as part of 
the service, the elaborate ceremonies with large numbers 
of attendants, and the father giving his daughter in 
marriage, have been introduced to Mennonite 
congregations. Although wedding gowns, similar to those 
worn by other Canadian brides became the general attire 
in many Mennonite churches somewhat earlier, all these 
innovations were usually referred to as "English 
weddings." 

Mr. and Mrs. Peter P. Hoeppner observed their 65th Wedding AlTI1iver­

sary, July 26, 1970. 



Mr. and Mrs. John J. Braun, their Diamond Wedding, 

November 16, 1971. 

Mr. and Mrs. A. A. Kroeker 

1964 

On June 18, 1922, Rev. John Warkentin officiated at a triple wedding 

ceremony in the Winkler M.B. Church. In February, 1972, the three couples 

(Left to right) Mr. and Mrs. Otto Dick, Mr. and Mrs. Herb D. Dick, and 

Mr. and Mrs. Frank K. Friesen met at Phoenix, Arizona, for a reunion to 

observe their Golden Wedding. 

April 1,1973, Miss M. Catherine Hildebrand and Mr. G. Ken 
Kehler 

An Essay oJ! the Historical Background 
of the Churches of Winkler 

Presented at the Inter-Church Centennial Thanksgiving 
Service 

September 20, 1970, by Wm. Schroeder 

"In a very real sense a number of the prominent 
churches of Winkler today are older than the town itself. 
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For one thing, Winkler was established as a C.P.R. 
siding only in 1892, some 17 years after the first 
Mennonites settled in the surrounding community. 
Several churches were already organized outside of the 
town, and as mem bers settled in the growing railway 
town, congregations either moved their meeting houses 
into Winkler or else erected new ones there. As a matter 
of fact, some church leaders had resisted the founding of 
a Mennonite town and had warned Isaak Wiens, original 
owner of the townsite, not to have anything to do with the 
establishment of a railway station. The traditional 
Mennonite social, cultural, and religious way of life was 
based on the ideal of agrarian rural isolation and resisted 
the threat of encroachment of "the world". But the 
growing settlement needed the railway. Mr. Wiens solved 
the dilemma by trading farms with Mr. Valentine 
Winkler, a non-Mennonite from Morden, who then 
allowed the C.P.R. to open a station, named "Winkler" 
after him. Even after Winkler was established, there was 
considerable reluctance on the part of several churches to 
locate in town. 

"However, the real roots of the Mennonite churches 
of Winkler go much deeper than merely to the pioneer 
settlement of the West Reserve. In 1525, during the time 
of the Reformation in Europe, a ntlmber of the members 
of the Swiss Reformed Church in Zurich, Switzerland, 
broke with their leader, Ulrich Zwingli. Zwingli, though 
he had left the Roman Catholic Church, still combined 
the church and state. All citizens were to belong to the 
church of the rulers. The civil and military powers of the 
state were used to enforce church regulations. Some of 
the more radical reform~rs,. like Conrad Grebe!' Felix 
Manz, and Philip Blaurock, demanded the separation of 
church and state, insisting that the individual must be 
free to follow his own conscience. They also rejected child 
baptism as unbiblical and re-baptized believers upon 
confession of their personal faith in Jesus as Saviour. 
Hence they got the name"Anabaptists", (re-baptizers). 
Believers' baptism, separation of church and state, and 
the doctrine of non-resistance characterized the first 
Anabaptists as they tried to recapture the New 
Testament ideal of the ch urch. 

"Despite severe persecution the movement spread 
extensively in Switzerland and South Germany. Shortly 
afterward Anabaptism took root in Holland and north 
Germany. As most of the Swiss leaders were martyred, 
the leadership of the movement passed more into the 
hands of the Dutch ex-priest Menno Simons, from whom 
the name "Mennonite" is derived. During the 16th and 
17th centuries many thousands of Mennonites died for 
their faith. 

"It was my privilege, in 1967, to visit such places as 
the great Zurich Groszmunster Church from which the 
original Anabaptists withdrew; the spot where the first 
baptism took place; the Limmat River where Felix 
Manz, the first Mennonite martyr, was drowned; a 
mountain cave where early Mennonites held secret 
worship services; and the Dutch village of Witmarsum 
where Menno Simons worked for a while and where a 
monument was erected some years ago. 

"Many of today's so-called "Old Mennonites" of 
Pennsylvania, Virginia, and Ontario are descended from 
the Swiss-South German branch of Anabaptism. Some 
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of the Dutch and North-Germans later migrated to 
Prussia, (today part of East Germany and Poland). After 
1789 many moved on to southern Russia from where 
large numbers migrated to Canada in the 1870's, 1920's, 
and after World War II. Others went to South America. 
The earliest settlers in the Winkler-Altona area came 
from the Russian Mennonite settlements of Bergthal and 
Fuerstenland, both of which were daughter-colonies of 
the first Mennonite colony in Russia, Chortitza, often 
referred to as the "Old Colony". 

"By this time the Russian Mennonites were no 
longer merely a religious group or church. For 
generations they had lived in closed, isolated 
communities with their own schools, local government, 
and, in part, economic system. Missionary activity had 
declined; no new blood was added. They had become a 
distinct cultural or ethnic group with their own dialect. 
Their religious distinctives were deeply interwoven with 
strong social and cultural traditions. The church still 
dominated a Mennonite's life, but it had become 
somewhat of a "Volkskirche", often with little emphasis 
on a vital personal relationship to Jesus Christ. External 
conformity was stressed, Baptism became almost 
automatic upon reaching adulthood. The radical 
reformers of 1525 had changed into arch-conservatives. 
A typical Mennonite was willing to migrate to preserve 
his "faith" for his children, without realizing that what he 
was so zealously perpetuating was as much a social 
traditional way of life as a religion. 

"The pioneers of this community were of two 
different churches simply because they had come from 
two different geographical areas in Russia. But their 
differences soon widened. The Fuerstenlaenders were 
more conservative and gradually came to be called "Alt­
Kolonier". The Bergthaler were more ready to accept 
changes and to adapt to the Canadian way of life. The 
Alt-Kolonier, for example, resisted more strongly the 
government's attempt to organize rural municipalities. 
They kept their own "Oberschulze" and Schultebott" 
who levied taxes and organized public works alongside of 
the legally elected reeve and councillors. Originally the 
villages operated on the open-field system; a farmer did 
not necessarily live on the quarter section for which he 
had legal title. The land around the village was parcelled 
out in strips to individual farmers and there was a 
common pasture. This system broke down as some of the 
more individualistic Bergthaler left the community 
organization and moved out on their own land. As a 
result, the whole way of life changed drastically. The Alt­
Kolonier ministers strongly opposed this change and also 
the inroads of the public school. In some communities 
where there were enough Bergthaler they voted to 
organize government schools, paid for by taxes levied on 
all property owners, including Alt-Kolonier, who, 
however, supported their own church school, as they 
could do until a new law came out in 1916-17. Some peo­
ple today tend to smile at this fear of worldliness and the 
English language, but let us remember, the real issue was 
the Old-Colony belief that the education of their children 
was the duty of the church and not the state. That 
philosophy had been common in many countries of 
Europe in the 19th century. 



"But the issue of education also split the Bergthaler 
themselves. When their elder (bishop), Johann Funk, co­
operated with the government in establishing a private 
high school and normal school at Gretna to train 
Mennonite teachers, the majority of his own church 
broke away in 1890 to form the Sommerfelder Church, 
named after the village where its first elder, Abraham 
Doerksen, lived. This ,eveI1t differed from the usyal 
Mennonite church split rather than a reform group gOIng 
out under a new name, it was the remaining majority that 
took the new name. In effect though, the small 
Bergthaler group was a new church, leading in 
educational, religious, and social reforms. It was the 
beginning of today's Bergthaler Churches. 

"The Bergthaler Church today has about 20 
congregations. The one in Winkler had its beginnings in 
the now defunct village of Hoffnungsfeld, a mile south­
west of town. In 1895, soon after the Bergthaler­
Sommerfelder division, the Bergthaler group built the 
first church in Winkler, on Sixth Street. It was replaced 
with a new building in 1947, and as we are all aware, the 
sanctuary in which we are now sitting was dedicated last 
June. Early resident ministers included Frank Sawatzky, 
William Harms, and Jacob Hoeppner, bishop of the 
whole Bergthaler Church. A history of the Bergthaler 
denomination by Henry Gerbrandt is currently in the 
process of publication. The Bergthaler Church began the 
Manitoba Pioneer Mission among Indians. The church is 
a member of the Canadian Conference of Mennonites 
whose convention took place here this summer. 

"When the provincial government finally enforced 
attendance at English public schools during the 1920's, 
the majority of the Alt-Kolonier migrated to Mexico and 
many Sommerfelder to Paraguay. After about 80 
families of Alt Kolonier had returned to Manitoba, they 
reorganized in 1936 under the leadership of the late Elder 
J. J. Froese. They have no church buildipg in Winkler 
itself; local members worship in Reinfeld or Chortitz. 

"The Sommerfelder Church organized a local 
congregation in Winkler in 1938. In the late 1950's a 
conservative element in the Sommerfelder Church, who 
could not go along with growing reforming trends, 
withdrew to form the Reinlaender Mennonite Church, 
which has a building on Pembina Avenue. 

"The Winkler Mennonite Brethren Church had its 
beginnings when in 1884 two itinerant preachers, David 
Dyck and Henry Voth, were sent out by the Mennonite 
Brethren Churches of the U.S.A. to do mission work in 
Manitoba. For the next five years Voth returned 
repeatedly for series of services in various homes, 
especially in Hoffnungsfeld and Burwalde. Apparently in 
the existing churches of the time there was insufficient 
emphasis on the need for a personal conversion 
experience. Voth's personal evangelism was particularly 
effective with persons who lived in fear of eternal 
damnation but were told that one cannot be sure of 
salvation in this life. Voth suffered considerable 
persecution including physical violence. There were two 
baptismal services in 1886, and in 1888 the first M. B. 
Church was organized at Burwalde. Voth invited 
Gerhard Wiebe to come from Russia to take over the 
leaderhip of the church. The church was moved to the 
north west corner of Winkler in 1897. By this time 
daughter churches existed at Kronsgart and Grossweide. 
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By 1905 membership in Winkler had grown to 225. A son 
of the founder, the late H. S. Voth, was pastor from 
1931-50. The present sanctuary on Mountain Avenue 
was erected in 1947. 

"The M.B. Church departed more radically from 
traditional Mennonite church practices and pioneered 
numerous cultural changes. This trend was accelerated 
by the arrival of the Russian Mennonites in the 1920's. 
The Bible Institute was established in 1925. The Winkler 
M.B. Church has been prominent in the Manitoba, 
Canadian, and North American Conferences. A number 
of foreign missionaries have gone out from Winkler. 

"It is noteworthy that the re-formed Bergthaler 
Church and the Mennonite Brethren originally came out 
of the earlier churches at roughly the same time. It might 
be interesting to research their early relationshi'p, but I 
have not yet had time to do so. 

"The Evangelical Mennonite Mission Church, 
formerly Rudnerweider, separated from the 
Sommerfelder denomination in 1936-37. A strong revival 
in 1934 under the preaching of I. P. Friesen of Rosthern, 
Saskatchewan, had hastened the polarization of the 
orthodox and evangelical wings of the Sommerfelder 
Church. Four young ministers introduced various 
innovations in their church activities and 1200 members 
sided with them. The organization took place at 
Rudnerwide and the first bishop was W. H. FalL The 
church has numerous local congregations. The Winkler 
church began when the Rosenbach church building was 
moved to town in 1942. A new building was erected in 
1953. In 1959 the local Rudnerweide groups became 
largely autonomous and organized into the Evangelical 
Mennonite Mission Conference. The conference does 
extensive mission work. 

"The Grace Mennonite Church on Pembina Avenue 
was formed in 1961 when a number of members withdrew 
from the local Bergthaler Church and began conducting 
their worship services in English. This opened the door 
more effectively for non-German speaking residents of 
the comm unity. I n recent years several other churches 
have greatly expanded their use of the English language. 
The Grace Church is also a member of the General 
Conference of Mennonites in Canada. 

"The Evangelical Mennonite Brethren Church on 
Third Street South was organized in 1961. There 
previously had been a mission group meeting under the 
leadership of A. M. Friesen since 1954. When he left, the 
group invited the EMB Conference to come in, dnd the 
congregation has joined that conference as a member­
church. 

"German speaking Lutherans have lived in Winkler 
since its early years. Already in the 1890's they conducted 
services in homes, and.in 1901 organized as a church. For 
some years they met in the school building until their first 
church was erected in 1917. The present membership is 
about 100; the church is a member of the Missouri 
Synod. 

"At various tin1es other denominations have had 
temporary congregations in Winkler. These include 
Prebyterians, Church of God, Jehovah's Witnesses, 
Pentecostals, a Jewish Synagogue, and unafiliated 
misssion groups. The Jewish Synagogue was in operation 
during the 1920's and 30's on the east side of Sixth Street, 
north of Mountain Avenue. 



"Some general comments may be in order. The 
salient feature of Mennonite church history is the recur­
ring divisions and redivisions. In at least one case even 
the church building was sawn in two. This tendency has 
often been cited as a violation of the unity of the body 
of Christ. Much of this history of division is indeed a 
reproach. All too often it was mere tradition and culture 
that the churches were fighting over in the name of 
religious faith. But there are positive aspects. In some 
cases it was genuine revival and renewed evangelistic zeal 
that created new channels and led the way, resulting in 
something of a counter-reformation in the parent church. 
Gradually and sometimes unconsciously churches 
learned from each other. Granted, imitation was 
sometimes motivated by rivalry. 

"Today there seems to be a fair degree of tolerance, 
even if active co-operation is limited. In some churches 
co-operation is limited by policy; in other cases we are 
just too busy in our own churches. Inter-church 
evangelistic campaigns have fostered unity, as well as 
expanded and strengthened individual churches. 

"A most serious indictment of most Mennonite 
churches is the almost total absence of names that are not 
of Mennonite origin, ethnically. We are still too clannish 
and exclusive. Our missionary effectiveness is hampered 
if people who accept the faith are expected also to adopt a 
culture. I am not disparaging the Mennonite cu.ltural 
heritage; in fact, I greatly appreciate it. But our faith is in 
Jesus Christ and the Word of God, not in tradition. God 
does not speak only Low German 

"Mennonites are changing fast. Whether we like it 
or not, the typical Mennonite way of life is bound to 
decline even more rapidly with the coming of age of the 
first generation to have grown up under the full impact of 
the modern media of communication. Many young 
people are forced to leave the community for study and 
employment in the cities. There is reaction to the 
formalism and institutionalism of our churches. But 
there is more ground for optimism for the future of the 
faith than for the future of the Mennonite culture. I think 
the biblical way of salvation through persooal faith in 
Jesus Christ is taught more clearly in more churches 0f 
Winkler today than a generation ago, even though too 
few Christians take personal evangelism seriously. In the 
world at large, the teaching of peace and non-violence, 
long peculiar to Mennonites, is gaining wide acceptance. 
(I am not claiming the credit for the Mennonites). Last 
winter's revival especially among the young people of our 
community demonstrated their great potential for the 
kingdom of God. What we need now, in my opinion, is a 
revival among us middle-aged church members. May 
God grant it and expand the cause of Christ in Winkler!" 
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EMB Church Dailv Vacation Bible School, 1971. 

Winkler E.M.B. Church cycloton, 1971 

Official opening of Winkler Credit Union, Aug. 24, 1973.9 
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